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SUMMARY OF FINDINGS


· Although the Panel understands that progress has been made since the Juan F. Consent Decree was implemented, DCF’s failure to provide Tabatha with adequate intervention and protection during her first five years set the stage for an ominous pattern of deterioration in her mental health
· Over the course of her life, Tabatha did not receive the proper care and treatment necessary to address her need for permanence and her mental health issues.
· After a long series of failed placements in foster homes, shelters, and a residential facility, Tabatha was ultimately placed in Connecticut’s only juvenile correctional facility, an institution that is overcrowded, lacks resources, is understaffed and does not provide the therapeutic milieu necessary to treat a diverse population of emotionally disturbed children.
· Because Connecticut lacks appropriate treatment resources for emotionally disturbed children, Tabatha moved from one end of a continuum where she once had been regarded as a deserving victim to the opposite end where she was viewed as an undeserving delinquent.

· DCF’s Long Lane staff failed to recognize the significance of Tabatha’s multiple suicidal behaviors exhibited prior to her death, and failed to conduct a comprehensive assessment of her mental health issues.
· The State of Connecticut does not have a secure in-patient residential setting to treat those children who are not serious offenders but who are at risk of flight.
· Long Lane School is a DCF correctional facility that operates without outside oversight, without accreditation and without licensing.
· Staffing at Long Lane School is grossly inadequate to meet the needs of its diverse population.
· Long Lane School is failing to meet the mental health needs of many of Connecticut’s most troubled children. There is no comprehensive approach to mental health treatment, nor does Long Lane provide the intensive psychiatric care that many of the children require.
· The environmental conditions at Long Lane School contribute to substandard living conditions and, in some respects, serve to jeopardize the safety of the children in residence. 
· Reports of abuse and neglect against children by staff and agency police officers are investigated by DCF Hotline, another branch of the same agency, without independent oversight of those investigations. The Panel believes that this practice presents a conflict of interest.
· Use of force incidents involving DCF Long Lane police officers are not subject to an internal administrative review process within the police division of the institution.
· Children at Long Lane School are routinely mechanically and physically restrained, often under circumstances which violates DCF’s policy.
· Record keeping at Long Lane School is seriously deficient, to the extent that critical information regarding the children and their care is not being recorded.
· Each department at Long Lane School operates as a separate entity with little or no sharing of information pertaining to each child’s condition or care.
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INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes sections 46a-13l(b) and (c), the Connecticut Child Fatality Review Panel is mandated to review the circumstances of the death of any child who has received services from a state department or agency addressing child welfare, social or human services or juvenile justice. After a preliminary examination of the facts in this case, the Child Advocate, as Chairperson of the Panel, began an investigation into the circumstances of the death of Tabatha B., whose death resulted from suicide while committed to the Department of Children and Families (DCF) at Long Lane School. 

In conducting a review of this case, the Office of the Child Advocate (OCA) interviewed DCF employees, including staff of Long Lane School, and other social services providers who provided relevant information and suggestions for the Panel's consideration. Additionally, she reviewed records and documents pertinent to this case, including the records of DCF, the Department of Social Services (DSS), Tabatha’s clinical records from private agencies, documentation from other social service providers, Judicial Branch records, and reports from the Department of Public Safety and other law enforcement personnel. In the interest of maximizing resources and time, the OCA conducted its initial interviews in conjunction with DCF’s internal investigators in order to limit repetition and hardship to the individual witnesses. She also conducted more in-depth independent interviews where deemed necessary and appropriate. Additionally, she and other Panel members toured every building of the Long Lane facility that is used by children. They requested an up to date fire inspection of the institution as well. Finally, the OCA met with a group of children currently in residence at Long Lane School.

After intake of the above-described body of material, and after extended discussion, it was determined that it was necessary to focus both on the child welfare management of Tabatha’s case and on the state’s care of children at Long Lane School. As a consequence, this report was prepared by the OCA, with input from consultants and other Panel members. The full Panel then reviewed the report and voted to accept it for public release. The names of specific individuals have been omitted for reasons of confidentiality. Although the reliability and content of accounts and records may vary to some degree, it is believed that the following is a reasonably accurate account of Tabatha’s life.

The Panel wishes to publicly note the complete cooperation of Long Lane School administration, the Department of Children and Families, the Department of Public Safety’s Fire Marshal’s Office, the Judicial Branch, the Department of Social Services and private service providers. These agencies responded quickly and graciously to numerous requests for information and access to records. Finally, the Office of the Attorney General and the Department of Correction’s assistance in providing information to the Panel on the issues surrounding the state’s treatment of its correctional population and the training of corrections officers was invaluable. 

SUMMARY OF FACTS

Tabatha B., a bi-racial child, was born on August 17, 1983 to a mother suffering from significant physical and mental health problems. No father was listed on the birth certificate, although paternity was later identified. Records indicate that her mother parented seven children, lost custody of five, and two other offspring died in a house fire. 

The records reflect that Tabatha was the victim of physical abuse as early as two weeks of age and on numerous subsequent occasions. From infancy until her placement at Long Lane School, she was the subject of many referrals of sexual abuse and chronic neglect. She attempted suicide at the age of five and throughout her youth experienced numerous foster care placements and disruptions as well as psychiatric hospitalizations. 
A number of psychological and psychiatric evaluations were conducted over the course of Tabatha’s lifetime and the termination of the mother’s parental rights was recommended by professionals as far back as 1988. No action was taken to follow through on this recommendation. Tabatha was the subject of neglect petitions, a family with service needs petition and a delinquency petition. The courts had involvement with Tabatha and her family, including her younger sister and her mother, over the majority of her lifetime.

It was not until 1996 that, at the mother’s request, a petition to terminate her parental rights to Tabatha was filed by DCF. This petition was granted by the court on August 9, 1996. After this, Tabatha’s foster placement disrupted and she experienced additional placements in both foster homes and residential facilities. By the age of fifteen, Tabatha had periodically threatened suicide, had been the victim of physical assault, had been the victim of rape and had an established pattern of running away from placements. She experienced court intervention as both a neglected child and as a delinquent child which resulted in her dual commitment to DCF. After being committed as a delinquent, Tabatha was placed at a residential facility where she assaulted a staff member. She was then transferred to Long Lane School.

Tabatha’s stay at Long Lane School was fraught with minor behavioral infractions. She experienced a series of setbacks and disappointments over events that occurred during that period and over relationships with family and former caretakers. She made statements about suicide and, on one occasion, unsuccessfully attempted suicide. She was placed on safety/suicide watches on numerous occasions during this period. On September 26, 1998, a series of events occurred that led to administrative charges of assault, disciplinary action against her, and a planned suicide attempt on that day. She was found hanging in her room, was transported to a local hospital and placed on life supports. Those supports were terminated two days later, by agreement of medical personnel, DCF and Tabatha’s biological family. Tabatha died on September 28, 1998, at the age of fifteen.

PART I:  CHILD WELFARE MANAGEMENT OF TABATHA B.
A.  Child Welfare Management Prior to Long Lane School
Panel finding:
Although the Panel understands that progress has been made since the Juan F. Consent Decree was implemented, DCF’s failure to provide Tabatha with adequate intervention and protection during her first five years set the stage for an ominous pattern of deterioration in her mental health.
1.   Pre-Consent Decree Case Management
[1]
During the first two and one-half years of her life, Tabatha’s family was the subject of seven referrals to DCF for suspected abuse and neglect, including two involving the sexual abuse of Tabatha. Tabatha was allegedly the victim of attempted suffocation at the age of two weeks and the victim of sexual molestation in early and later infancy. On January 31, 1984, Tabatha was placed in the care of her godparents. Seven months later, the godfather was observed "french kissing" the one-year-old child in a doctor’s office. At the age of two, Tabatha was sexually abused by a seventeen-year-old boy. None of these referrals resulted in DCF opening a protective services case. 
In January 1986, after additional referrals were made to DCF, Tabatha was evaluated for nightmares that she was experiencing as a result of sexual abuse. The psychologist recommended that a parent aide be provided to the family to teach appropriate skills and to monitor the godparent’s home environment. On January 21, 1986, DCF entered into a service agreement with the mother, designed to facilitate Tabatha’s return to her from the care of the godparents. This plan was carried out despite the fact that Tabatha’s stepfather, who was living in the home, had a history of alcohol and substance abuse, a chronic history of domestic violence, and had allegedly tried to rape his own mother and had sexual intercourse with his sisters.

According to records, from May 1986 through December 1988, DCF received twelve additional referrals concerning Tabatha's family. On October 28, 1987, her mother reported that Tabatha was sexually abused by her godparent’s teenage son. This incident allegedly involved oral sex, digital penetration, and attempted anal penetration. Four-year-old Tabatha’s ribs were allegedly broken and she was further physically assaulted in an attempt to prevent her from disclosing the abuse. The perpetrator of these offenses was convicted and incarcerated.

In June 1988, five-year-old Tabatha was admitted to a hospital after attempting suicide by smashing her face into a wall of exposed nails. In July 1988, she was transferred to a children's hospital, but was then removed against medical advice by her mother five days later. That same month, a psychiatric social worker reported to DCF that Tabatha was at risk of further emotional and sexual abuse. In August 1988, a psychiatrist issued a similar report and described her as having significant, severe emotional symptoms. The report was not investigated by DCF until one month after the referral, and resulted in recommendations for long-term outpatient treatment or, in the alternative, psychiatric hospitalization for Tabatha.
[2]

In October 1988, the mother twice advised the DCF social worker that Tabatha was continuing to have nightmares and difficulty sleeping and DCF advised her to take the child to the hospital.  Tabatha was admitted with self-destructive behavior, uncontrollable anxiety, reported amnesia and behavioral problems.  A psychologist conducted an emergency evaluation of Tabatha and her mother and strongly recommended that Tabatha have an inpatient psychiatric evaluation, and be committed to DCF, concluding that she would be at risk if she remained in the care of her mother.  Tabatha was placed in a psychiatric hospital on a fifteen-day physician’s emergency certificate.

In November 1988, the mother agreed to voluntarily place Tabatha with DCF.  Tabatha was discharged from the hospital to a foster home in December 1988.  Later that month, a subsequent report from the psychiatric hospital concluded the termination of parental rights was essential for Tabatha’s future well-being because the mother would never follow through on promises to change her behavior.  The team opined that:
by the time proof of her mother’s inability to care for her is again confirmed, critical periods in the child’s emotional development which would facilitate bonding with family will have been lost.  Thus Tabatha would become a child further traumatized by the failure of reunification, prolonged reinstitutionalizations and the destruction of her expectations for nurturance and stability.  Future permanency planning would be even more difficult.

The team deemed reunification with her mother unrealistic and contrary to Tabatha’s best interests.
During a supervised visit with Tabatha on December 14, 1988, the mother told Tabatha for the second time that she would kill the perpetrator of the child’s abuse. Five-year-old Tabatha then told her mother that she did not want to live with her. The mother reacted by screaming and crying and blamed Tabatha for not loving her. Throughout that month, Tabatha refused to visit her mother. On December 22, 1988, the mother filed a motion with the juvenile court requesting the immediate return of Tabatha to her care. Almost two weeks later, the court noted that, since Tabatha was on a voluntary placement, it could not prevent the return of Tabatha to her mother. DCF filed a last- minute request for an order of temporary custody, which was denied because it lacked the requisite affidavit alleging imminent danger to the child. Neither the court nor DCF records reflect any additional effort by DCF to secure the necessary legal support for Tabatha’s custody. As a consequence, despite the recommendation from the experts and the child’s strong preferences, she was returned to her mother’s care on January 4, 1989.

In March 1989, a court psychiatric evaluator concluded that the mother’s chaotic, impulsive and self-centered lifestyle was exceedingly unlikely to change, and that the mother was suffering from a serious emotional disorder.  On March 15, 1989, the court adjudicated Tabatha as an “uncared for” child and ordered a six-month period of protective supervision.
[3]  The mother was expected to participate in counseling at a clinic, cooperate with the Visiting Nurse Association (VNA) and a parent aide, inform DCF as to who was living in her home, and only use babysitters approved by DCF.  In April and May 1989, the VNA made five home visits and the parent aide made four.  Both agencies closed their cases.  A status report filed with the court on June 13, 1989 indicated that the mother and Tabatha had been attending weekly family therapy for the previous five months.  The mother, however, refused to participate in individual counseling.  DCF recommended that the court end the protective supervision on September 15, 1989.

From 1989 to 1991, five additional referrals concerning the neglect or abuse of Tabatha were received by DCF.  These referrals did not result in DCF opening a protective services case.

Analysis

The Panel is cognizant of the fact that, prior to the Juan F. Consent Decree, there existed a strong emphasis on family preservation. Therefore, the Panel does not intend to belabor the deficiencies in the management of Tabatha’s case by conducting an in-depth analysis of DCF’s handling of each referral during this period. Nevertheless, the child welfare lapses highlighted demonstrate a striking lack of proactivity that should have been taken to insure the wellbeing of this severely abused, emotionally disturbed and high-risk child. The handling of Tabatha’s case during this period is a good example of the kinds of child welfare management issues that the Consent Decree was invoked to remedy.

Without question, DCF did not afford adequate intervention, protection and care to Tabatha in her first five years of life. Indicators that the family could not care for her safely were overlooked or ignored. Striking evidence in 1988 that Tabatha was severely emotionally disturbed and that her mother was contributing to her mental health issues was discounted as was repeated evidence that Tabatha had been physically and sexually abused while in the care and custody of her mother. DCF did not meet the statutory standards required in the juvenile court for requests for orders of temporary custody and failed to utilize the expertise of the multiple psychological and psychiatric experts who had evaluated the mother and child in 1988 and early 1989 and who concluded that termination of parental rights was essential for Tabatha’s welfare. 

2.   Post-Consent Decree Case Management Prior to Long Lane

Panel Findings: 

Tabatha did not receive the proper care and treatment necessary to address her need for permanence and her mental health issues. 

Connecticut lacks appropriate treatment resources for emotionally disturbed children. As a consequence, Tabatha moved from one end of a continuum where she once had been regarded as a deserving victim to the opposite end where she was viewed as an undeserving delinquent. 

On October 22, 1993, the mother contacted DCF and reported that ten-year-old Tabatha had sexually molested a one-year-old child and that, in response, she had hit Tabatha with a belt, causing two welts on her arm.
[4] A DCF social worker interviewed the mother and Tabatha. Three days later, the mother contacted DCF and stated that Tabatha no longer loved her and demanded that Tabatha be "placed for good." On that day, Tabatha was voluntarily placed in a foster home. Within a month, the foster mother requested Tabatha's removal due to her crying, screaming, fighting with other children, banging into walls and sleep difficulties. On December 3, 1993, Tabatha was hospitalized in a psychiatric unit for seven days with no visit from her mother. She was discharged to another foster home with diagnoses of post traumatic stress disorder and dysthymia. Residential treatment was recommended. The court granted an order of temporary custody to DCF on the same day.

Tabatha was again admitted to a psychiatric unit on January 1, 1994 with suicidal ideation, oppositional behavior and temper outbursts. Given Tabatha's failure in two foster homes, her unresolved issues with her mother, and her behavioral problems, a longer-term inpatient evaluation was recommended. Consequently, Tabatha was transferred to another hospital where she stayed from January 6, 1994 through February 25, 1994. Her discharge diagnoses were dysthymia, oppositional defiant disorder, post traumatic stress disorder and parent-child problems, with a recommendation for placement in an experienced, therapeutic foster home in conjunction with a day treatment program, or, in the alternative, a residential placement. Despite these specific recommendations, Tabatha was placed with newly-licensed foster parents who, the record reflects, the DCF worker suspected would be overwhelmed by Tabatha's behaviors. To augment this placement, Tabatha entered an extended day treatment program in March 1994. 

In April 1994, Tabatha’s mother first voiced her intention to terminate her parental rights to Tabatha. On April 6, 1994, Tabatha was adjudicated as a "neglected" and "uncared for" child and committed to DCF.
[5] The court expectations required that visitation between Tabatha and her mother occur in a supervised family therapy setting. According to a treatment plan dated April 27, 1994, DCF’s goal for the family was "reunification." In June 1994, the mother began visiting Tabatha for the first time since the fall of 1993. Once again, Tabatha began exhibiting suicidal, destructive and aggressive behaviors. In August, a new social worker was assigned to her case. In September 1994, the foster parents requested Tabatha's immediate removal because of stealing and self-abusive behaviors. She was placed in a new foster home on September 7, 1994. 

A court-ordered psychiatric evaluation dated October 15, 1994, described the mother’s lifestyle as dissolute, impulsive, dangerous and antisocial. She was living with two men at the same time, sharing her bed with both of them. She stated that it was good for Tabatha to have "two daddies." The report, filed in court on October 31, 1994, also reflected that the mother had been married five times and had maintained relationships with dangerous people, including the arsonist who set the fire that killed two of her other children. The evaluator summarized:

In spite of repeated recommendation[s] not to return Tabatha to the care of her mother and in spite of no apparent change in [mother's] functioning, Tabatha continues to be considered for return to her mother's care under which circumstance she had been repeatedly abused, neglected and placed at risk of harm by herself as well as by a succession of male abusers who have been given access to Tabatha as a result of her mother's actions.

The evaluator concluded that the mother would never be able to protect or supervise any child at any time in the future. He cautioned that any hope that the mother and child could be reunited was absurd, regardless of the intensity or nature of therapeutic contacts. 

On November 2, 1994, an administrative review of Tabatha’s case was held and, despite the above-mentioned findings of the evaluator, DCF concluded that "some progress [had] been made" and that the goal was reunification within a year. In January 1995, Tabatha’s foster mother reported constant behavior problems at home and in school, and both DCF and Tabatha's therapist expressed concerns about Tabatha not eating well and not taking her medication. Nonetheless, DCF, in concert with the therapist, decided to begin supervised visitation in the mother's home. The therapist attributed Tabatha's recent behaviors to "anxiety about returning home." From January through April 1995, at the therapist’s urging, DCF began supervised, and then unsupervised, visits. Visitation was briefly suspended in May 1995 when the mother's therapist reported that the mother was refusing treatment and required medication. Tabatha's behavior greatly improved during this period of no visitation but Tabatha's therapist remained firm in her belief that extended visits with the mother should resume, and DCF agreed. Tabatha and her mother consistently reported that the visits were going well until August 4, 1995, when the mother indicated that she wanted to terminate her parental rights to Tabatha, reporting that, during the last visit, she had given Tabatha a knife and told her to kill her (the mother). On another occasion, Tabatha reportedly asked her younger sister to jump out of a window. 

In September 1995, Tabatha’s foster mother indicated her willingness to adopt Tabatha. The following month, the mother stated that she wanted the foster family to adopt Tabatha, but also voiced her interest in visiting with Tabatha again. DCF instructed Tabatha's therapist that the mother and child were to have no contact. 

In February 1996, Tabatha expressed her ambivalence about remaining in the foster home. Nonetheless, DCF filed termination of parental rights petitions. By the end of that month, Tabatha was expressing her desire to resume contact with her mother and blaming DCF for all of her problems. She was formally discharged from her day treatment program in April 1996, but did not begin with the recommended outpatient treatment until October 1996. After vacillating several times, Tabatha’s mother voluntarily terminated her parental rights on August 7, 1996. 

Tabatha asked to be removed from her foster home in September 1996, claiming that she was the victim of physical and verbal abuse. The foster mother admitted to "bopping" Tabatha and a service agreement was signed. In October 1996, Tabatha again alleged that she was being verbally abused in the foster home. She was placed in two different foster homes over the next three days. 

During this period of time, Tabatha continued to have intermittent contact with her mother despite her new therapist’s recommendation against it in January 1997. The therapist expressed concerns to DCF again in March and April 1997. Tabatha began skipping school, receiving detentions and missing therapy appointments. In June, Tabatha was evaluated at a hospital emergency room for suicidal threats and discharged after a "safety contract" was signed. In July 1997, the foster mother requested Tabatha’s removal. Tabatha was placed at a shelter, and her former foster mother began visiting. 

On August 10, 1997, Tabatha fled the shelter and was sexually assaulted. She was returned to the shelter, where she subsequently made a number of allegations regarding substandard care. Tabatha continued to have telephone contact with her mother, although she was expressing her anger at her mother to the social worker. She was upset that, among other things, her mother "always chose her sister over her." Tabatha continued to skip school.

On September 17, 1997, Tabatha was admitted to a short-term intensive residential program but, by the end of October, she was constantly absent without leave from the program and from school. Despite concerns about adequate supervision, DCF allowed Tabatha to remain in this placement. On November 12, 1997, Tabatha’s probation officer filed a Family With Service Needs petition (FWSN),
[6] alleging that Tabatha was beyond the control of DCF, her statutory parent.

In November 1997, Tabatha was AWOL from her residential program at least seven times. On November 25, 1997, she was adjudicated as a FWSN, and specifically ordered by the judge not to run away. That same day, she left the facility and did not return. The court issued a "take into custody" order, and Tabatha’s probation officer filed a delinquency petition alleging violation of the court order. Tabatha was missing for two months. On January 23, 1998, she turned herself in to the police and was placed in detention.
[7] On January 27, 1998 the court ordered a psychological evaluation of Tabatha and remanded her to detention. She was appointed a guardian ad litem and insisted that she wanted to be placed at Long Lane School. 

As a result of this latest evaluation, Tabatha was diagnosed with oppositional/defiant disorder, depressive features, cannabis abuse and alcohol abuse. Residential placement was again recommended. The psychologist requested that DCF consider highly-structured visitation with the mother, opining that the visits would assist in the child's compliance. At a detention hearing on March 10, 1998, the court also strongly encouraged DCF to allow contact between Tabatha and her mother during the period of detention. During this period a substance abuse evaluator concluded that Tabatha would benefit from substance abuse treatment.

On March 26,1998 the court adjudicated Tabatha as a delinquent child and committed her to DCF for a period not to exceed eighteen months. However, this was a direct placement through Long Lane School
[8] and, the following day, Tabatha was placed at a residential facility for adolescent girls with substance abuse problems, under the supervision of her Long Lane parole officer. On April 26, 1998, Tabatha was involved in a physical altercation with a staff member. She was arrested, temporarily placed at a shelter, and then transported to Long Lane School on April 27, 1998.

DCF received six more reports of suspected abuse or neglect involving Tabatha’s family between 1989 and 1993 before DCF again opened a protective services case. Tabatha’s mother contacted the agency on October 22, 1993 and reported that she had hit her daughter with a belt as punishment for sexually abusing a younger cousin. It is clear from the record that ten-year-old Tabatha was now seriously emotionally disturbed and that her mother felt unequal to the task of controlling her daughter’s behavior. 

This period of state involvement with Tabatha is reflective, not of DCF inaction or failure to respond but, rather, the failure to secure for Tabatha the proper treatment that she desperately needed and the failure to make an appropriate permanency plan for her. The only positive factor in Tabatha’s life during this period was the assignment of a dedicated and committed DCF social worker who would remain on her case consistently almost until the time of her death.

Despite Tabatha’s two psychiatric hospitalizations and required placement in two more foster homes in 1993-1994, and continued expert opinion that the mother was unfit and unable to protect or supervise any child at any time in the future, DCF pursued the unrealistic and unsafe goal of reunification of the now eleven- year-old girl with her mother. The Panel can only conclude that the child welfare interventions made were contrary to Tabatha’s best interests.

In September 1995, when Tabatha’s third foster mother expressed an interest in adopting her, DCF finally suspended visitation with her birth mother and stopped pursuing family reunification. Tabatha was discharged from the extended day treatment program in April 1996, and DCF left the task of finding another psychotherapist for Tabatha to her foster mother. Tabatha received no psychotherapy for the next six months. As a result, her desperate need for skilled psychotherapy and consistent emotional support was not met. The deterioration of Tabatha’s mental health issues continued. 

Only at the behest of the mother did DCF finally file a petition to terminate parental rights which was granted after the mother’s voluntary consent in August 1996. Not surprisingly, thirteen-year-old Tabatha now had tremendous ambivalence about a legal dissolution of her family relationships that was against her own hopes and wishes. The records do not reflect that she was given an opportunity to address her hurt, anger and feelings of rejection and abandonment, especially after she began to experience the reality of this legal proceeding and its consequences.
[9] This only exacerbated her already deteriorated emotional condition. Because Tabatha was old enough to act independently, DCF, her statutory parent, could not prevent Tabatha from initiating contacts with her birth mother, a person who continued to feel ambivalent about her decision to sign away her parental rights and who did not discourage the contact.

At that point, there was ample evidence that Tabatha’s needs could not be met in nonspecialized foster care and that she needed a therapeutic placement or residential care. The records do not reflect that either option was tried, was available or was even considered. Instead, over the next nine months, she experienced two additional placements in foster care and an emergency shelter, was hospitalized for suicidal threats and was sexually assaulted after running away. She was then placed a in a short-term residential treatment program that lacked the skilled psychiatric services and close supervision that she required and she began to be truant from school and absent from the program without leave. This was a clear indication that this placement was unsuitable for her. Rather than seeking a psychiatric facility that could meet the child’s needs, DCF petitioned the court to declare her a child whose "family" (DCF) could not control her. Based on her past behavior, it was not surprising that after the court "ordered" her to stay at the placement, Tabatha violated the court order later that day by, once again, running away. 

A commonly-utilized legal maneuver had opened the door for a delinquency petition on a child who, up to that point, had only committed status offenses, behaviors such as running away or being truant from school. After being missing for two months, Tabatha was placed in detention on January 23, 1998 for two months and evaluated with the diagnoses of cannabis abuse and alcohol abuse and oppositional-defiant disorder with depressive features. She was then adjudicated a delinquent child and committed to DCF thereby enabling DCF to place her in a residential facility for adolescent girls with substance abuse problems. That decision was deficient in that the facility did not have the intensive psychiatric services to address her more serious underlying mental health issues that Tabatha now required. After further deterioration at this facility, she was arrested and charged with assault of a staff member and placed at Long Lane School on April 27, 1998.

Thus, at age fourteen and one-half, Tabatha went from being a victim of physical, sexual and emotional abuse and severe neglect to being a delinquent child. From the perspective of her caretakers, her status had changed from that of an abused and neglected child with severe emotional damage who desperately needed skilled parenting, a consistent caretaking environment and long-term skilled psychiatric treatment to that of a "bad" child who needed punishment and correction. Tabatha had slid from one end of a continuum where she once had been regarded as a deserving victim to the opposite end where she was viewed as an undeserving delinquent. 

 

B.  Child Welfare Management at Long Lane
Panel findings: 
Tabatha was placed in a correctional facility that lacks sufficient resources and the treatment milieu necessary to meet the needs of a diverse population of emotionally disturbed children.

DCF’s Long Lane staff failed to recognize the significance of Tabatha’s multiple suicidal behaviors exhibited prior to her death, and failed to conduct a comprehensive assessment of her mental health issues.

The State of Connecticut does not have a secure in-patient residential setting to treat those children who have complex emotional needs but who are not serious offenders.

As a direct result of the assault on the staff person at the residential facility, Tabatha was placed at Long Lane School on April 27, 1998.
[10] Within days of her arrival she began to be written up for such offenses as engaging in back and forth conversations with her peers, poor group interaction behavior, provoking peers, poor attitude, use of profanity, cracking her knuckles. and poor cafeteria behavior. In May, she was written up on twenty-eight occasions. In response to her disruptive behavior on May 16, 1998, Tabatha was locked in her room.

Tabatha’s therapeutic program at Long Lane consisted of weekly meetings with an unlicensed, but experienced, clinician who had a Masters of Social Work degree and the title of Psychiatric Social Work Associate. Her only training in suicide assessment took place in 1992. This clinician was assigned to the girls’ cottage and met with Tabatha for the first time on April 28, 1998, the day after Tabatha arrived. A primary focus of the therapeutic intervention with Tabatha appears to have been her relationship with her mother, whom she had not seen in a year. The clinician sought and received permission from Tabatha’s DCF caseworker to engage Tabatha’s mother in therapeutic family sessions at Long Lane School. Tabatha’s mother attended a few scheduled sessions but canceled so many that the clinician stopped telling Tabatha about scheduled meetings in order to prevent her disappointment. The Panel’s review of the clinical records of these sessions revealed little of the content of the session. However, monthly clinical update notes reflect that the focus of these meetings was Tabatha’s relationships with others, anger management skills, and her perceived bulimic condition..

In June, Tabatha had a preplacement interview at an in-state residential facility and was rude to the interviewer. She reconsidered her behavior and wrote a letter of apology, requesting a second interview. After the second interview, she was not accepted into that program. During this month, Tabatha was written up for twenty-five incidents including poor circle behaviors, silliness, going back and forth with a peer, poor line norms, excessive noise, and a non-caring attitude. Twice in June, she was punished with seclusion. 

Throughout her stay at Long Lane, Tabatha continued her pattern of exhibiting noncompliant behavior and complaining about medical problems. Her mother continued her pattern of disappointing her daughter by failing to keep scheduled visits. Tabatha was assessed for depression and was prescribed medication, although she often refused to take it. In August 1998, she celebrated her fifteenth birthday and marked the second anniversary of her mother’s voluntary termination of parental rights. On August 3, 1998, the Long Lane psychiatrist evaluated Tabatha for depression and bulimia. 

Tabatha received a pass to visit her former foster family on August 15 and 16, 1998. The visit went well and Tabatha earned a pass for the weekend of August 22. On August 21, however, Tabatha’s parole officer revoked this pass as a consequence of Tabatha’s reluctance to consider an out-of-state placement in Pennsylvania. (Tabatha wished to remain at Long Lane since she had begun off-grounds visiting.) That day, an alert report was issued because Tabatha stated that she "wanted to kill herself." Tabatha's clinician ended the alert several hours later concluding that she was no longer considered a risk to herself or others. Tabatha was not seen by a psychiatrist or psychologist in response to this incident. 

Seven days later, Tabatha was involved in a verbal and physical altercation with another child. She was physically restrained by staff and placed in seclusion for a brief period. On August 30, Tabatha threatened to injure herself if she was not permitted to talk to her mother. She was crying, highly anxious and agitated. She was placed on a ten-minute safety watch,
[11] with a safety suit and safety blanket, in a stripped room.
[12] Tabatha’s clinician removed all precautions the following day, and dismissed the incident as Tabatha’s anger. The clinician discussed anger management skills with her. Although this was Tabatha’s second suicide threat in nine days, no attempt was made to have her evaluated by a psychiatrist and her clinician apparently had sole responsibility for removing the safety watch. 
Because of her behavior, Tabatha was placed on "pending transfer" status to the diagnostic unit. Unfortunately, the shortage of beds in the diagnostic unit meant that this status could last indefinitely.
[13] On August 31, she requested a grievance form as she wanted more free time out of her room. The Long Lane records indicate there was a shortage of staff on that day, and other than bathroom breaks, receiving her meals, and visiting the nurse for five minutes, Tabatha was confined to her room for most of the afternoon and evening of August 31. On September 2, during her free time, she began yelling and swearing and was again moved to isolation. 

Tabatha's mother failed to appear for a scheduled family therapy session on September 8, 1998. On that same day, Tabatha was placed on "cottage probation" (confinement to the cottage) for ten to twelve days for a previous infraction. On September 11, 1998, Tabatha was advised that her interview at the out-of-state facility would take place the following week. She was also informed that her long-time DCF social worker, with whom she had a good rapport, was transferring Tabatha’s case to a new worker. Finally, Tabatha was told that she would have to testify in a sexual assault case in which she had been the victim. 

On Saturday, September 12, Tabatha was involved in a verbal altercation with another child and was sent to her room for "awhile." At noon, Tabatha and the same child resumed their confrontation, and Tabatha was sent to her room for the remainder of the shift. At 1:50 p.m., staff heard a gagging noise coming from Tabatha's room and found her on the floor with a scarf triple-knotted around her neck. According to varying reports, Tabatha was found semi-conscious, she appeared "blue" and staff had difficulty untying the knot. By the time a nurse responded to the scene, Tabatha no longer appeared "blue," she insisted that she had not meant to harm herself and that the incident had been an accident. As the situation was being assessed, however, Tabatha wrapped her bathrobe around her neck, squeezing tightly, in full view of the nurse. Tabatha then bit a staff person who attempted to remove the robe. The agency police officers were called and Tabatha was restrained, placed in a safety suit, and placed on a one-to-one safety watch.
[14]

Tabatha was on "pending transfer" status from September 12 through September 18. She did not have contact with her clinician until Monday, September 14, two days after the incident. The clinician had received a short message on her answering machine about the incident and met with Tabatha to assess her. Tabatha claimed that her plan was to get attention, that her foot slipped, and that she was unable to call for staff. The clinician was unaware, at the time of the suicide assessment, of Tabatha’s second attempt to strangle herself in the presence of staff or that she appeared "blue" when found. Tabatha was removed from one-to-one observation and placed on a ten-minute safety watch, at which time she was described as depressed and withdrawn. The following morning, her clinician removed the safety watch entirely. Later that day, Tabatha had her first visit since her attempted suicide with the Long Lane psychiatrist. 

On September 18, 1998, Tabatha was placed on cottage probation for five to seven days for biting during the suicide attempt. On September 22, 1998, Tabatha left a message with her stepfather for her mother to call and schedule a family therapy session with the clinician.
[15] On September 23, 1998, Tabatha received two positive written reports, the first since she had been at Long Lane. The next day, Tabatha visited an out-of-state facility with her clinician and her case manager, both of whom felt that she was in good spirits during the trip. During the interview process, however, Tabatha was advised that she would be placed at that facility in a "week or so" and that, based on her recent suicide attempt, her admission was conditioned on her initial placement in their forty-five day diagnostic unit. Tabatha was unhappy about this decision, and continued to be upset that she had to be placed so far away from home. 

Two days later, on September 26, 1998, Tabatha threatened another child. Youth Services Officers (YSOs) restrained her and received minor injuries in the process. Tabatha was charged administratively with assault and returned to seclusion where she was checked every fifteen to thirty minutes by a staff person. At 11:05 a.m., she was summoned to an administrative hearing with the Duty Officer,
[16] and subsequently placed on a half-hour safety watch. Records reflect that she was checked by a YSO approximately every half-hour, the last check being at 3:50 p.m. when the YSO observed a blanket hanging over the window. Tabatha said "hi" and appeared to be trying to nap. At 4:15 p.m., the same YSO entered Tabatha’s room and found her hanging, unconscious, by her bathrobe tie from the window shade brackets. The YSO attempted to hold Tabatha up while screaming for assistance.

In response to the emergency call made from the girls’ cottage, agency police officers (APOs) were on the scene in a matter of minutes. One officer lifted Tabatha to alleviate pressure on her neck, while another officer ran to call 911. Tabatha had no pulse and the knot around her neck was very tight and difficult to remove.
[17] Cardiopulmonary resuscitation was begun. The nurses responded within seven to ten minutes and continued the CPR until relieved by paramedics. Tabatha was stabilized, a pulse was detected and she was transported to a local hospital. She was later transferred to a children’s hospital, where a joint decision between DCF, Tabatha’s mother and medical professionals, was made to terminate life support. Tabatha died on September 28, 1998. 

 

Analysis
A review of Tabatha’s case during this period of time, and specifically of those events surrounding her death, leads the Panel to conclude that, although it appears that Long Lane staff correctly followed procedures established by the institution, those procedures did not comport with the standards of care necessary to safeguard the well-being of this severely disturbed child.

The severity of Tabatha’s psychiatric problems was never recognized by DCF, her statutory parent, before or after her commitment to Long Lane School in April 1998. Her records reflect that, by early 1997, she needed an extended placement in a secure residential treatment program that offered skilled psychiatric services and milieu therapy. Unfortunately, Connecticut lacks such facilities for the growing population of disturbed adolescents who need skilled and secure treatment beds. Even if DCF had recognized and attempted to meet the complex treatment needs of this abused, neglected, and severely disturbed child in a timely fashion, it would have been difficult to find a placement for her in this state.

Instead of being placed at a secure, residential treatment facility for severely disturbed adolescents, Tabatha was now placed in a correctional facility. By her behavior throughout her five-month stay at Long Lane School, she continued to demonstrate her need for a treatment model, rather than a correctional model of intervention. She received minimal psychotherapeutic services and she responded with defiance and received negative consequences for minor infractions of the rules, such as talking and being silly with other girls in a manner deemed inappropriate by the staff.

In addition to providing minimal psychiatric services to its severely disturbed population of delinquent adolescents, Long Lane School is understaffed with an unacceptably low ratio of staff to children (1:10) in the cottages where most of the population resides. In fact, the YSO who found Tabatha was responsible for the direct care of nineteen girls on the afternoon of Tabatha’s death. Understaffing makes it very difficult to monitor those children who are at risk for suicide. Theoretically, once identified as suicidal, children can be transferred to the diagnostic unit on the grounds for closer monitoring and treatment. However, the option of immediate transfer to the diagnostic unit rarely is possible, since there was and is a long waiting list for open beds.

Another deficiency pertinent to Tabatha’s case is that Long Lane School staff had not received the level of initial training or yearly updates in training that are recommended by the American Correctional Association.
[18] This means that most of the staff who have direct contact with children are not adequately trained to recognize suicide risk and also lack training in suicide prevention.
[19]

Although she had a successful visit with her former foster mother on the weekend of August 15, 1998, Tabatha began an ominous pattern of threats of self-injury and suicidal behavior on August 21, 1998. Precipitating factors included her disappointment over her mother’s failure to attend scheduled visits, learning of a plan for an unwanted transfer to an out-of-state facility, and having her pass for weekend visits revoked as punishment for refusing to consider this proposed transfer. Nevertheless, Tabatha’s initial suicide threats were not taken seriously and her clinician lifted the suicide alert several hours later. 

Unfortunately, Tabatha’s suicidal behavior was viewed as defiance and manipulation, rather than as an indication of severe psychiatric illness. None of the staff at Long Lane School recognized the lethal nature of her extensive prior history of suicidal behaviors and the plethora of recent stressors that placed her at the highest level of risk for killing herself. When she again threatened to injure herself on August 30, 1998, she was physically restrained in a safety suit and safety blanket and placed in a stripped room with staff checks every ten minutes until the following day. 
This typical aversive response to a child’s threat of suicide was necessitated by the low cottage staffing levels at the facility. With only two cottage staff to monitor twenty children, the only safe way to monitor a suicidal child who must be checked every ten minutes is to apply this level of physical restraint.

If the child is not a bona fide suicide risk, such an aversive response might prevent her or him from threatening self-injury in the future. However, for a seriously emotionally disturbed adolescent, an aversive response to a suicide threat can be very traumatizing, especially if the child does not also receive an intensive psychotherapeutic response or an alleviation of stressors. Tabatha received neither. In fact, after she convinced her clinician on August 31, 1998, that she was not a suicide risk, all suicide precautions were removed. Active psychotherapeutic intervention to prevent suicide was indicated at this time, but was not initiated.

Tabatha’s psychic stress was intensified in early September 1998, when she learned that she soon would lose a valued relationship with her DCF caseworker and that she would be required to testify in the upcoming criminal trial of the person who had sexually assaulted her in August 1997. At this point, she manifested all of the primary risk factors for suicide listed in the literature.
[20] On September 12, 1998, after being sent to her room as punishment for arguing with a peer, she tried to hang herself with a scarf. On this occasion, staff heard gagging noises and rescued her before she sustained serious injury. 

Although Long Lane policy requires that a clinical assessment be conducted in cases of suicidal behaviors in order to determine the type of intervention necessary, Tabatha was assessed by a nurse with no clinical qualifications to make such an assessment. Tabatha denied that she had been trying to kill herself yet wrapped a bathrobe around her neck, squeezing it tightly in the presence of the nurse who was assessing her. Again, her behavior was treated as defiant and manipulative, rather than as a cry for help. 

In retrospect, it is clear that, at that point, Tabatha should have been sent to a psychiatric facility for evaluation and admission. Instead, she again was put into a safety suit and placed on one-to-one supervision. Since her suicide attempt occurred on a weekend, she remained in the safety suit with one-to-one supervision for the next two days. Again, on September 14, 1998, Tabatha was able to convince her clinician that she was not at risk for further self-injury. By the time she saw the facility psychiatrist on September 15, 1998, all suicide precautions again had been removed.

It is important to note that critical information about Tabatha’s suicide attempt on September 12 was not communicated to the clinician. She was not made aware of the seriousness of the attempt, nor that Tabatha had made a second attempt to strangle herself while the nurse was evaluating her. Such information, critical to a complete assessment would have assisted the clinician in appreciating the seriousness of Tabatha’s suicide attempt. Nevertheless, on September 14, it was premature to remove all suicide precautions on this high-risk adolescent who had attempted to hang herself two days earlier. 

Although the plan to move Tabatha to the diagnostic unit at Long Lane School, a setting where she could have been supervised more closely, remained in place, it was never implemented because there was no space available in that unit. Indeed, the Panel learned through interviews with staff that pending status is "a joke" since there are never beds available. Instead, Tabatha remained in the cottage where she had attempted suicide with no special precautions in place to safeguard her. In summary, Long Lane’s response to Tabatha’s suicide attempt can only be deemed punitive and not therapeutic. By placing Tabatha on cottage probation, the clear message was that she was being punished for bad behavior.

On September 24, 1998, Tabatha visited an out-of-state facility and was told that she would be moved there in approximately one week to begin a forty-five day stay on the diagnostic unit because of her recent suicide attempt. While she seemed in good spirits during the trip, she was clearly unhappy with the prospect of being transferred to a diagnostic unit in a new facility. Two days later, on September 26, 1998, she threatened and physically assaulted a peer, was forcibly restrained by YSOs, and was secluded in her room. Given Tabatha’s recent history of suicide attempts, the half-hour room checks instituted by the staff, while conforming to Long Lane policy, were insufficient for this high risk adolescent, and allowed her enough time to remove the belt stitched to her bathrobe, knot a noose and hang herself from the window shade brackets. 

As the Panel has found in other fatality reviews, the decisions made in Tabatha’s case were deficient in the sense that each incident was treated as an isolated event rather than as part of a larger pattern. Tabatha needed service providers and caretakers who worked as a team, shared critical information with one another and assessed this complex and severely-disturbed child in a comprehensive fashion. Under such circumstances, a review of Tabatha’s history, her self-injurious behaviors, her self-destructive statements and the plethora of emotionally significant events in her life that occurred during August and September 1998 would have highlighted her extreme risk for completing a suicide attempt. There is no question that Tabatha was in need of intensive psychiatric treatment and that the counseling provided was simply insufficient to meet her needs. 

PART II:  LONG LANE SCHOOL

Introduction
In its investigation of Tabatha’s case, the Panel uncovered systemic issues, related both directly and indirectly to Tabatha’s death, that implicate the safety and well-being of all of the children committed to DCF and placed at Long Lane School. Thus, this section reflects the Panel’s efforts to address and make recommendations relating to these issues. To do this, the Panel needed to fully understand the current system of juvenile justice in Connecticut and the process by which a child is committed to DCF and placed at Long Lane School. In addition, the Panel felt it imperative to educate itself on the issues of adolescent suicide and standards for the care and treatment of incarcerated children.


In furtherance of these goals, Panel members and their investigators visited Long Lane School on several occasions and became familiar with the physical plant. Additionally, Long Lane administration provided information and statistics that proved to be extremely helpful in analyzing the current conditions at the school. Finally, numerous staff interviews completed the picture of Long Lane School for the Panel.


The Panel also reviewed the March 1998 report of Edward Loughran & Associates, a consultant hired by DCF prior to Tabatha’s death.
[21] Loughran addressed a number of areas, including the physical plant, staffing, education, programming and staff training, and his report provided very useful background information. The Panel agrees with and endorses Loughran’s many recommendations; however, there are additional concerns that must be addressed.


There is a professional consensus that the need for a new, modern facility for Connecticut’s delinquent children is critical. This is borne out by the Loughran Report, as well as by a feasibility study conducted by the Department of Public Works and by DCF’s failed attempt to have Long Lane accredited by the American Correctional Association in 1987. The Panel concurs with that consensus and believes that the construction of the new facility is long overdue and should begin at the earliest possible date.
At the same time, there are numerous other issues, related to management of the institution and the care and treatment of children, that must be addressed in order to ensure that these vulnerable children are receiving proper care in the interim. It is unclear why the problems, as set forth below, exist. It may be that management, coping with a chronic lack of funds and staff as well as a burgeoning population, has unwittingly fostered a climate of reaction and control, as opposed to proactive treatment and rehabilitation. Whatever the cause, it must be identified and corrected if our most troubled children are to become productive, contributing and law-abiding adult members of society.

 

A.   Children in the Juvenile Justice System

1.   Treatment v. Correctional Models


Panel Finding: 
For all intents and purposes, Long Lane School is functioning as a punitive correctional facility without the inclusion of a balanced and adequate treatment milieu. 
When children break the law and come to the attention of the juvenile court in Connecticut, they are likely to encounter one of two different response models: treatment or correctional. The treatment model views a child’s acting-out behaviors as an indication of psychiatric disturbance for which a therapeutic response is indicated. This model assumes that a child’s delinquent behavior can be attributed to some type of psychic injury or illness and attempts to help the child by providing remedial interventions. Thus, the philosophy of the treatment model includes a belief that children who commit illegal acts are signaling that they are experiencing a significant level of emotional distress and deserve help. Within this model, delinquent children are defined as patients who are ill. Although they may be held accountable for their actions, their behaviors are defined as normal or abnormal (rather than as good or bad).

By contrast, the correctional model views delinquent behaviors as willful criminal acts that deserve punishment. The child who commits delinquent behavior is viewed as a minor who has been bad. The philosophy of the correctional model includes a belief that delinquent children deserve punishment for their bad behaviors, not remedial interventions. In addition to providing a negative consequence for past transgressions, punishment is expected to have a deterrent effect on future criminal behavior by delinquent children.

While treatment approaches may be cognitive or behavioral in nature, correctional approaches usually focus on behavioral interventions. Behavioral approaches involve responding to a child’s behaviors with positive or negative consequences. Within the correctional model, there is likely to be an emphasis on negative reinforcement of bad behaviors. To begin with, placement in a correctional facility is intended to be a punishment or negative reinforcement of the criminal behavior that brought the child to the attention of the court in the first place. After placement within a juvenile correctional facility, a delinquent child is likely to receive punishment for any actions that are labeled "bad" by the staff. In many such facilities, children are punished for noncompliance with arbitrary rules that are part of the correctional milieu: standing or marching in line, not talking during mealtimes, refraining from joking or laughing during meetings and the like.
Numerous studies have shown that there are many similarities in the children who are placed in psychiatric facilities and in correctional institutions. Both populations have comparable levels of acting-out behaviors (including drug and alcohol abuse) and psychiatric diagnoses. Although children in both settings exhibit suicidal behaviors, researchers have noted that "many adolescent suicide attempters and completers have been in trouble with the police and that incarcerated youths are at extreme risk for suicide."
[22] 

Depending on the setting, however, there are significant philosophical differences in staff and administrative responses to suicidal behavior by institutionalized adolescents. Correctional facilities tend to view suicide attempts by incarcerated adolescents as yet another manifestation of "bad" behavior, while psychiatric facilities view suicidal behavior as a manifestation of serious mental illness. When an adolescent in a psychiatric facility tries to kill herself or himself, the suicidal behavior is likely to be interpreted as a cry for help and an indication that current treatment interventions have not been effective. By contrast, incarcerated adolescents who attempt to kill themselves are seen as oppositional troublemakers who are rebelling against lawful authority and trying to escape deserved punishment. 

Since there are so many similarities between the adolescents who are referred to psychiatric facilities and those who, instead, are remanded to juvenile correctional facilities, several studies have attempted to identify the criteria for applying a treatment versus a correctional model in any particular case. One group of researchers, studying psychopathology in incarcerated delinquents in Connecticut, concluded that racial bias within the mental health system tended to influence the application of the correctional model to black adolescents.
[23] In a study conducted in New York State, researchers found "no meaningful differences in population-corrected admission rates among black, white and Hispanic children in the state mental health system," but "a vast preponderance of black children and adolescents admitted to the state juvenile correctional system."
[24] Another study found few differences in demographic, emotional and behavioral characteristics of adolescents placed in a public psychiatric hospital as compared to a juvenile correction setting and concluded that race was the only variable that predicted disposition, with black youths being more likely to be placed in the correctional facility.
[25] 

Researchers and juvenile justice administrators have been aware for more than a decade that minority children are over-represented in the juvenile justice system.
[26] For example, while approximately fifteen percent of the juvenile population in 1993 was black, twenty-eight percent of all juvenile arrests and fifty percent of all juvenile violent crime arrests involved black youths.
[27] On a typical day in 1987, black children constituted fifty-seven percent of the population of long-term public juvenile facilities; this proportion increased to sixty-six percent of all children incarcerated in juvenile correction facilities in 1991.
[28] 

The Panel recognizes that Long Lane School is a juvenile correctional facility. However, it is operated by the child protection agency of the state which has a much broader mandate than merely "correcting" delinquent children. DCF has an affirmative obligation to provide proper care and attention to all of its wards, no matter what their circumstances. DCF can, however, provide both services, thus offering a higher-quality of care to children who might otherwise continue to pass through the revolving door of the correctional system. 

 

Recommendation
· DCF should develop a hybrid program consisting of both correctional and treatment components in order to meet the varying needs of the diverse population of children served at Long Lane School. 
2.   Adolescent Suicide
Suicide is the third-leading cause of death among adolescents aged fifteen to nineteen in the United States.
[29] In Oregon (one of the few states to require hospitals to report injuries resulting from suicide attempts in children less than seventeen years old), suicide is the second-leading cause of death in adolescents.
[30] Examination of national statistics from 1980 to 1995 show a dramatic increase (114%) in the suicide rate of black youths aged ten to nineteen years. Prior to 1980, white youths aged ten to nineteen years had a suicide rate that was 157% greater than black youths. The lower-reported suicide rate among black children was a rationale for public health and educational leaders not to target this population to receive outreach suicide prevention programs. However, by 1995, the suicide rate for white youths was only forty-two percent higher than the rate for black youths. Especially disturbing is the fact that between 1980 and 1995, the suicide rate for black children aged ten to fourteen years increased 223% (compared with a 120% increase for white children). During this period, the suicide rate increased 126% in black youths aged fifteen to nineteen years, compared with a modest increase of nineteen percent in white youths.
[31] 

The Center for Disease Control (CDC) has reported that, while firearms are the most commonly used method of committing suicide in persons under twenty-five years, hanging was the second most common method of self-destruction used by this age group.
[32] The CDC conducted a comprehensive study of health risk behaviors in high school students in the United States from February to May 1995. The results of this national survey revealed that 24.1% of high school students had seriously considered attempting suicide during the preceding twelve months.
[33] Of these, female students (30.4%) were significantly more likely than male students (18.3%) to have considered attempting suicide. Actual suicide attempts were reported by 8.7% of the students who completed the survey. Again, girls (11.9%) were significantly more likely than boys (5.6%) to have made a suicide attempt. During the twelve months prior to the survey, 2.8% of the students reported suicide attempts that required medical attention. Suicide attempts of this severity were significantly more likely to be reported by ninth-grade girls (6.3%) than by twelfth-grade girls (1.3%).

The following have been found to be the primary risk factors for adolescent suicide: drug and alcohol abuse, a prior suicide attempt, depression or manic depression, antisocial or aggressive behavior, a family history of suicidal behavior, and the availability of a firearm.
[34] Precipitating factors for completed suicide may include "shameful or humiliating experience(s) such as an arrest, a perceived failure at school or work, or a rejection or interpersonal conflict with a romantic partner or parent."
[35] 

Having identified adolescent suicide as a major public health problem in the United States, the CDC described strategies for preventing suicide among young persons. Listed first was a recommendation for "training school and community leaders to identify young persons at highest risk for suicidal thoughts, threats and attempts."
[36] The charge to administrators of training schools
[37] presumably is based on the observation that many of the children and adolescents who are at high risk for committing suicide already are incarcerated or, at least, known to the juvenile justice authorities. Experts have recommended active treatment intervention for adolescents who are identified as being at high risk for suicide, as well as crisis intervention and vigorous treatment efforts for children who attempt suicide.
[38]

3.  Standards for addressing the needs of incarcerated children.
The American Correctional Association has promulgated voluntary standards for all phases of the operation of detention and correctional facilities for children.
[39] These standards include meeting the basic needs of incarcerated children in the areas of housing, building and safety codes, safety and emergency procedures, security, facility size, environmental conditions, staffing, exercise, classrooms, dining and food service, sanitation and hygiene, housekeeping, and clothing and supplies. According to these standards, juvenile correctional facilities must comply with applicable federal, state and local building codes and must conform to applicable federal, state and local fire safety codes.
[40] The American Correctional Association’s standards for juvenile correctional facilities also address comprehensive education programs for incarcerated juveniles as well as vocational training and work opportunities, library services, recreation and activities, religious programming, mail, telephone and visiting services.

The American Correctional Association also has promulgated standards for health care, including mental health services, for children in juvenile correctional facilities schools. In addition to addressing basic medical needs, these standards include provision of health screenings and examinations, social and counseling services, and medications. In regard to mental health services, the standards state that "an adequate number of qualified staff members should be available to deal directly with juveniles who have severe mental health problems as well as to advise other correctional staff in their contacts with such individuals."
[41] According to these standards, health screening should include attention to mental health problems and to past and present treatment or hospitalization for mental disturbance and suicide. A written individual treatment plan is recommended for juveniles with medical conditions requiring close medical supervision, defined as seizure disorders, potential suicide, chemical dependency and psychosis.
[42]

In 1994, the American Correctional Association’s standards for correctional facilities added a requirement that all new juvenile caseworkers receive an added 120 hours of training during their first year of employment and an added forty hours of training in each subsequent year of employment. This training should cover a variety of areas including signs of suicide risks and suicide precautions.
[43] Also in 1994, the standards were expanded to require that juvenile correctional facilities have a "written suicide prevention and intervention program that is reviewed and approved by a qualified medical or mental health professional" and that "all staff with responsibility for juvenile supervision are trained in the implementation of the program."
[44] According to the standards, the suicide prevention program must address specific procedures for intake screening, identifying and supervising of suicide-prone juveniles.

In 1987, DCF attempted to gain ACA accreditation for Long Lane School. The Panel has learned that the accreditation process was terminated after it was discovered that Long Lane’s physical plant would not meet the standards of the ACA. It is the Panel’s understanding that DCF has not pursued the accreditation process with respect to the standards affecting programs.

Other entities in Connecticut’s juvenile justice system have established standards in specific areas. For example, the Judicial Branch’s Division of Juvenile Detention Services adopted a suicide prevention plan for juveniles in detention facilities that became effective January 1, 1998.
[45] This is a comprehensive plan that provides for a suicide risk and mental health assessment at the time of intake and provides guidelines for identifying suicide risk in detainees newly admitted to the facility. The plan also describes interventions for various levels of suicide prevention, depending on the degree of risk exhibited by the child. If a detainee makes a suicide attempt, the plan gives specific guidelines for immediate response and treatment. This plan requires that within three months of hire, all new employees who work directly with juveniles must receive training in recognizing suicidal behavior and in suicide prevention. Thereafter, employees who work directly with juveniles are required to receive annual refresher training in these subjects. DCF has no corresponding comprehensive suicide policy for Long Lane School.

Recommendations
· DCF should immediately undertake efforts to meet as many ACA accreditation criteria as possible at Long Lane School.
· Any new facility and programs should be designed to meet all applicable ACA standards.

 

B.  Overview of the Juvenile Justice System in Connecticut

A child under the age of sixteen
[46] enters the Connecticut juvenile justice system in one of two ways. The first is when a child is the subject of a family with service needs petition (FWSN), which alleges a status offense that does not rise to the level of delinquent behavior, i.e., the child is beyond the control of the parent, is truant, or is a runaway. FWSN petitions may be filed by a probation officer or by the child's parent or guardian. The second manner in which a child enters the system is through the filing of a delinquency petition which alleges that the child has committed one or more acts that violate that penal code of the state. Certain serious crimes are known as "serious juvenile offenses" (SJOs).
[47] Delinquency petitions are filed by juvenile court probation officers after a referral from the police or when a child has violated previous conditions of probation or other court orders. 
 A child who is the subject of a FWSN or delinquency petition has the right to an attorney, as well as other constitutional rights accorded to adults. If the child is deemed to be a danger to himself or others, or at risk of fleeing, he or she may be placed in one of three detention centers
[48] operated by the Judicial Branch. Otherwise, the child remains in the care of legal guardians pending the outcome of the case, with or without court-imposed conditions of release such as a curfew, regular attendance at school, and obeying the rules of the household. Additionally, a child who has not been remanded to detention may be required to call in to the probation office on a regular schedule or to wear an electronic monitoring bracelet. In recent years, the Office of Alternative Sanctions, a division of the Judicial Branch, has opened a number of residential and day programs designed to provide pretrial supervision of children in lieu of detention placement.

During the pendency of a juvenile court case, a child is required to appear in court for the initial plea hearing before a judge, for one or more pretrial conference dates with the juvenile prosecutor, for the adjudicatory hearing before the judge (which may be an admission pursuant to a plea bargain or a bench trial), and the dispositional hearing, if disposition is not accomplished at the adjudicatory hearing.
[49] During this period, the child is assigned a probation officer, who has different duties depending on the stage of the proceedings. Initially, the probation officer monitors the conditions of pretrial release. When, as usually happens, a child agrees, at a pretrial conference, to make an admission of wrongdoing to fewer or lesser offenses than originally charged, the probation officer prepares a social study which includes information about the child's background, family, education, and mental and physical health. The probation officer also makes recommendations regarding the appropriate disposition of the case.
There is a wide range of potential dispositional outcomes, whether the case is adjudicated by agreement or after trial. The child can be placed under the supervision of a probation officer for a specific length of time, with certain conditions by which he or she must abide. The child can also be ordered to attend mental health or substance abuse counseling, to pay restitution to victims, to perform a designated number of hours of community service, to stay away from persons deemed to be a bad influence, or to perform other tasks designed to impress the child with the seriousness of his or her offenses. For example, a child charged with larceny may be required to do a research project on the costs to society of shoplifting. 

 

The most serious disposition available to the court is that of a delinquency commitment to the Department of Children and Families, and is usually only imposed for very serious and violent offenses, or when a child has repeatedly violated the law or orders of the court.
[50] Most delinquency commitments run for an indeterminate period "not to exceed eighteen months." In the case of SJOs, however, the child can be committed for any length of time up to a maximum of four years. Delinquency commitments to DCF are handled through Long Lane School. A child's commitment may be a "direct placement," meaning that he or she goes into a pre-selected program, usually residential, off Long Lane grounds but supervised by a Long Lane parole officer. Alternatively, the child can be placed at Long Lane at the outset of the commitment, with a Long Lane case manager determining if an outside program is appropriate in the future.

 

C.   Long Lane School
1. Overview of Long Lane School
Panel finding: 
Long Lane School is a DCF correctional facility that operates without independent oversight, without accreditation and without licensing.
The mission of Long Lane School is to "provide a program of treatment services for children and youth who are committed as delinquent to the Department of Children and Families. Long Lane School and Parole Services provide a continuum of individualized programs and services ranging from a maximum secure setting thorough supervised community placement." The mission statement of Long Lane also states that the facility shall assure protection of DCF committed delinquent children and youth and Connecticut communities through programs of varying levels of secure custody, shall provide a range of community and residential program services to meet the individual needs of children and youth and support their passage to behavioral, social, and emotional maturity and shall establish and maintain effective communication with all those impacting on the juvenile justice system to achieve the fullest cooperation in providing and using services and resources.
[51] While these are commendable goals, in reality, due to budget and staffing cuts, they remain, for the most part unrealized, and the facility has become, instead, one with a largely punitive focus.

Long Lane School is administered and operated solely by the Department of Children and Families. There are virtually no statutory or regulatory provisions in existence. The multi-volume DCF Policy Manual has a total of four pages devoted to Long Lane, the first of which, issued in March 1994, states "Long Lane School policy, procedures and related forms will be issued at a later date."
[52] Long Lane is exempt from the requirements of the federal Consent Decree resulting from the case of Juan F., which dictates much of DCF policy in the child welfare arena. It is exempt from licensing requirements and is not monitored by any outside entity.

Approximately ten years ago, the administration at Long Lane attempted to have the facility accredited by the American Correctional Association (ACA), a voluntary organization devoted to ensuring high quality and effective correctional management by accrediting juvenile and adult correctional and detention facilities across the nation. Upon initial assessment, it was determined that the physical plant at Long Lane fell far below ACA standards, and therefore the facility could not be accredited. A review of the ACA standards indicates that Long Lane’s staffing and programming also fail to meet the national standards.

Long Lane School has suffered as a result of its position in DCF, because the child welfare bureau receives the lion’s share of resources and attention. This factor, coupled with the failure of DCF to promulgate regulations and policy, as well as its insulated position from third party oversight, has resulted in the substandard facility that exists today.

In 1995, the General Assembly passed the Juvenile Justice Reform Act
[53] designed to improve services to juvenile offenders. The legislation envisioned Long Lane as a downsized secure treatment facility for males housing a core population of 131 children. With the concomitant savings in staffing expenses, the plan called for the development of community residential placements for many delinquents. Although the Long Lane staff was drastically reduced, for the most part, the community placements never materialized.
[54] Thus, Long Lane continues today to house upwards of 240 children, with far too few staff persons, in a facility that has a capacity for 176 children.

Long Lane School is overseen by an on-site Superintendent, who directly supervises the business office, the Cady School, maintenance and personnel. He is assisted by three Assistant Superintendents who are each responsible for a major department. The Superintendent reports to the DCF Bureau Chief for Juvenile Justice, who is located at the DCF Central Office, and who also supervises the trainer, and oversees the agency police department, which is physically located at Long Lane. The Bureau Chief reports to the Commissioner of DCF.

The Assistant Superintendent for Administrative Services oversees the cottages and cottage staff, case management, food services, the storeroom, and volunteer services. The Assistant Superintendent for Supportive Services is responsible for parole services and recreation. The Assistant Superintendent for Program Services oversees the Diagnostic and Intake Unit (DIU), the Diagnostic and Secure Treatment Unit (DSTU), medical services, and clinical services. In recent years, the Youth Challenge program and pastoral care have been eliminated.

2.   Current Conditions at Long Lane School

a.   The Population

Panel Finding:
Long Lane is serving an overcrowded and diverse population with too few staff and resources to adequately meet the needs of the children in residence.
During the state fiscal year (SFY) 1997-98, there were a total of 390 new admissions to Long Lane School, representing 228 children placed directly by the courts, and 162 children whose community and residential placements had disrupted.
[55] The children admitted during this period ranged in age from twelve to seventeen, although children as young as nine years old have been placed in other years. Forty-nine percent of the new children in SFY 1997-98 were fifteen years old; eighty-eight percent were between fourteen and sixteen years old. Seventy-three percent of the children were African-American or Hispanic. Approximately twenty percent were female.

The children placed at Long Lane have committed criminal offenses ranging from murder to such offenses as chronic truancy and running away.
[56] While the most violent children are isolated in the maximum-security unit (DSTU), most of the other children live together, with no segregation according to type of offense. Although most children are committed to Long Lane for up to eighteen months, and SJOs for up to four years, because of serious overcrowding, the average length of stay in 1998 has been 6.8 months for SJOs, and 4.3 months for other children, down from 7.0 and 4.8 months respectively in SFY 1996-97. Children at Long Lane can be released to other residential facilities, to group homes, to foster homes, or to their families.

The children placed at Long Lane arrive with a range of difficult and complex problems. Seventy-three percent qualify for special education services. Forty-seven percent come from families who have had at least one previously-opened DCF neglect or abuse case. Eight percent are dually committed, meaning they have already been committed to DCF as neglected or abused children prior to their delinquency commitment. One-quarter to one-third of the children require treatment with psychotropic medication at some time during their stay at Long Lane. 
Management at Long Lane conveyed to the Panel that many children sent to Long Lane simply do not belong there. The main reason for these inappropriate placements appears to be the lack of alternative placements for children at risk of flight. The Panel concurs with the Loughran Report which found that:

Long Lane School seems to be serving several distinct subpopulations that present differing supervision requirements and treatment needs: youths who require long term secure confinement and treatment, youths who require long term non-secure or staff secure (medium secure) residential services [and] youths who require a short term revocation/stabilization program.
[57] 

As Loughran concluded, the current program is trying to serve too diverse a population to be effective. Loughran noted, and the Panel concurs, that the situation has been exacerbated by severe staff reductions, insufficient and inadequate community residential programs, a rise in commitments of children to Long Lane and shortened institutional stays.
[58] The Panel also believes that the lack of a therapeutic milieu, lack of ongoing training for all staff and the lack of a multidisciplinary approach are all factors that are exacerbating this situation as well.

 
Recommendations
· Long Lane School should be divided into separate components or units, with each component designed to meet the needs of a specific population of children placed at the facility. For example, there should be separate programs and treatment offered to children who have committed violent crimes, children who are status offenders, and children with long-term psychiatric needs.
· Each child should be assessed upon arrival at Long Lane School to determine his or her physical, emotional and educational needs

b.   Staffing


Panel Finding: 

Staffing at Long Lane is grossly inadequate to meet the needs of Long Lane’s diverse population.

The Panel was impressed by the dedication and caring of most DCF Long Lane employees; however, the conditions under which they are expected to work make it virtually impossible for them to provide adequate care for the children. The Panel’s review of the materials provided by Long Lane, as well as the information provided in the Loughran Report, indicate that staff was cut dramatically during 1995 and 1996 in the wake of the Juvenile Justice Reform Act. Despite the addition of over forty positions in the last year, Long Lane is still operating at a staffing level much lower than it was before the budget cuts. 

Long Lane today employs approximately 375 staff, up from a low of 335 in June 1997.
[59] These include one psychiatrist, five psychologists, five psychiatric social workers, thirty-seven teachers, ten nurses, thirty-four correctional counselors (case managers and parole officers), seventy-four youth services officers in the five residential cottages, sixty-five youth services officers in the secure units, and twenty-two agency police officers. 

As an example of the scope of this problem, according to staff interviewed, there are currently three clinicians assigned to Briggs Cottage, where the girls are housed. One of these clinicians was moved from Smith Cottage after Tabatha’s death in response to that crisis, leaving Smith with only one clinician. Craig Cottage has no clinician assigned to it. This is simply inadequate if the goal of the institution is to assess all children upon their arrival at Long Lane.
[60] There are no on-site clinical staff available on evenings and weekends and the medical staff is responsible for providing medications and clinical assessments during this period of time. Since Tabatha’s death, clinical expertise is available evenings and weekends, but only by beeper.
Extremely high child to staff ratios
[61] are common to all departments at Long Lane, and the Panel received a wealth of anecdotal material on the issue. One clinician reported a caseload of twenty-five children, including weekly individual counseling, family counseling and participation in PPT meetings, in addition to responsibility for handling crises. In one week, this clinician was forced to conduct twenty-five counseling sessions for seven children in crisis, resulting in no regular sessions for any of the other children. 


The medical staff reported to the Panel that, on evenings and weekends, two or three nurses are responsible for the treatment and crisis intervention of well over two hundred children. These nurses are being asked to make decisions that they are simply not qualified to make. They are expected to conduct suicide assessments and order the placing of children in safety suits and other precautionary measures. They are not permitted to order the removal of such measures. 


Off-duty non-clinical employees such as Youth Services Officers reported to the Panel that they are "always on overtime," often called in to maintain safety watches over children who will not be seen by clinicians until regular working hours. As a result of working double shifts, they are less able to do their jobs well and are less tolerant of adolescent behavior. This opinion was shared by the children interviewed as well who stated that many staff were involuntarily being forced to work extra shifts and that this effected their attitudes.


Staff qualifications and training at Long Lane are problems that are long-standing.  Although licensing has been a requirement for the clinical staff since 1997, over one-half of the clinicians currently providing counseling to high risk children are unlicensed. For the past two years until recently, there was no training department because it was anticipated that Long Lane employees would be trained at the DCF Training Academy in Hartford. That never materialized, and a trainer, who reports to the Juvenile Justice Bureau Chief at DCF Central Office, has recently been hired. Agency police officers are trained at the State Police Training Academy.

 

Recommendations

· Caseloads at Long Lane in every department must be reduced commensurate with professionally established standards in order to provide appropriate treatment for and ensure the safety of children in the state’s care. Staffing levels must be increased to ensure: 

-
clinical caseloads that allow for proper documentation
-
availability of appropriate clinical services to all children
-
prompt and immediate assessments of all new admissions
-
the development of treatment groups to include substance abuse treatment, social skills education, anger management, bereavement and loss, and sex offender treatment
-
vocational education
-
more timely psychological and psychiatric evaluations

· DCF should increase staffing to comport with the recommendations in the Loughran Report issued in March 1998.
· Given the nature of Long Lane’s changing population of increased numbers of children with serious psychiatric issues, Long Lane must have adequate clinical staff, such as psychiatric social workers or psychiatric nurses, on site at all times.
· DCF must develop ongoing and intensive training for staff in such areas as adolescent development, suicide prevention, behavior management and crisis interventions.

c.   Mental Health Treatment

Panel Findings:

Long Lane School is failing to meet the mental health needs of many of Connecticut’s most troubled children.

There is no comprehensive approach to mental health treatment at Long lane School nor does the institution provide the intensive psychiatric care that many of the children require.

Children at Long Lane suffer from a variety of mental health disorders and exhibit serious behavioral problems. They are some of Connecticut’s most troubled children, many of whom have been abused or neglected, and who require the most intensive services. Children who more appropriately belong in a psychiatric hospital or a secured residential treatment facility remain at Long Lane simply because there are no available placement resources at such outside facilities. Nonetheless, children at Long Lane do not automatically receive individual counseling and even those referred for individual treatment do not appear to receive the high level of therapeutic intervention necessary to address their mental health issues.

Clinical crisis management occurs only during weekday hours because that is the only time clinical staff is available. At other times, children in crisis are maintained, without clinical intervention, in the living quarters. As an example of the enormity of the problem, according to statistics provided by Long Lane, in August 1998, prior to Tabatha’s death, staff performed an average of four suicide assessments per day, with a resulting average of three children per day put on one-to-one or ten-minute safety watches.

Each day, the children at Long Lane School participate in a group mental health program known as Guided Group Interaction (GGI), the purpose of which is to manage and change maladaptive behaviors.
[62] This management and change is accomplished through peer pressure, e.g., group recognition of an individual for positive behaviors and group consequences to an individual for negative behaviors. According to the Loughran Report, while GGI as practiced at Long Lane School is probably a "worthwhile exercise," it is not enough. "[T]o be more effective as a change agent it needs to be integrated into an overall culture throughout the institution. The development of a positive peer culture at [Long Lane School] would place GGI in a behavioral context and assist in discouraging negative behavior and reinforcing positive behavior."
[63] Thus, in order to foster a positive environment that will result in long-term, internalized behavior changes, Long Lane must develop a group interaction model that will permeate the entire setting, from the moment the child enters the program, to the day that child is discharged.

In addition to the lack of a milieu conducive to permanent, positive behavior changes, Long Lane also lacks more specifically-targeted group clinical services. Currently, there is a bereavement group (formed because so many Long Lane children have experienced the death of a loved one through violence or disease), and a sex offender group for boys. There is no alcohol or substance abuse group, no Alcoholics or Narcotics Anonymous programs, and no anger management training. Even the pastoral care program has been eliminated.
[64] Although some clinical programs were eliminated as a result of budget cuts, many of these programs could be reinstituted at a low or no cost.
Finally, many children at Long Lane are being provided counseling by personnel without the level of expertise necessary to effectively identify and meet their mental health needs. As noted previously, in Tabatha’s case, her clinician, although experienced in counseling, was unlicensed, held a Master’s Degree in Social Work and had last been trained in suicide assessment six years before Tabatha’s death. 

According to staff, the children themselves have indicated that they need a higher level of clinical services. The Panel was informed that the children often complain that they did not have enough access to clinical staff or that their clinicians do not spend enough time with them. They have also complained that their telephone calls to clinical staff were not returned.

 

Recommendations
· DCF must increase training for clinical staff and require that all clinicians become licensed within a reasonable period of time.
· Clinical services must be made available to all children at Long Lane in a timely and consistent manner.
· Targeted group clinical services, such as substance abuse, Alcoholics and Narcotics Anonymous programs, and anger management must be reinstituted and made available to all children at Long Lane.
· DCF must develop a positive peer culture at Long Lane in accordance with the recommendations made in the Loughran Report.

d.   Physical Environment 

Panel Finding:

The environmental conditions at Long Lane School contribute to substandard living conditions and, in some respects, serve to jeopardize the safety of the children in residence. 
Long Lane School was built in the 1930s and has undergone little renovation since that time. Fire safety issues at Long Lane School fall under the jurisdiction of the State Fire Marshall, which office is a division of the Department of Public Safety. The Panel reviewed fire safety inspection reports covering the last decade and noted a number of fire code violations, some of which had remained "active" in the Fire Marshall’s records for several years. In an effort to understand more fully the current status of fire safety, the Panel requested a complete fire safety inspection of all buildings used by children. This report was not available as of this writing. However, it is the Panel’s understanding that the State Fire Marshall has determined that some new violations were cited, some previously-cited violations have been corrected, and some others remain active, including the lack of fire sprinklers in the cottages.
[65] 
In addition to fire safety concerns, the Panel noted a number of other environmental conditions that, although not posing an imminent risk to the children, nonetheless contribute to their substandard living conditions. For example, cottage bedrooms are cramped, sparse rooms, each accommodating one to four children, each with a twin bed, and shared desks and dressers. There is no air conditioning in the summer and uneven heat distribution in the winter. According to the staff interviewed, this has resulted in sweltering conditions for staff and children during the summer, and ice formation on the inside of windows during the colder months.
[66]

Aesthetically, conditions are also less than optimal. In one cottage, for example, children often spend free time in a concrete basement room with no carpeting, a television, a few chairs, a pool table and a ping-pong table. Paint chips, peeling from the walls and ceilings, were observed by the Panel in every building. Some hot water pipes were noted to hang lower from the ceiling than permitted by the fire code, presenting the danger that the taller teenagers may hit their heads. 

Overcrowding has been identified as a major contributor to interpersonal conflicts which occur regularly. Lighting conditions in bedrooms, hallways and stairwells was observed to be dim. The Panel’s observations were supported by Long Lane staff who noted the difficulty of checking on children with flashlights and in conducting appropriate assessments of children, sometimes in hallways or stairwells, day and night.

 

Recommendations
· A secure modern correctional/treatment facility must be built to meet the needs of children who are convicted of serious criminal offenses and who require a high level of security.
· The new facility should included a separate secure treatment unit established specifically to meet the treatment needs of those children who exhibit uncontrollable behavior such as truancy and running away or who are convicted of minor offenses.
· Prior to the construction of a new facility, interim safety measures must be established in response to citations from the Fire Marshall’s office. Those violations that cannot be remedied entirely, require the development of alternative safety measures.

 

e.   Reports of Internal Abuse and Neglect


Panel Findings:

Reports of abuse and neglect against children by staff and agency police officers are investigated by DCF Hotline, another branch within the same agency, without independent oversight. The Panel believes that this practice presents a conflict of interest.

During the course of the Panel’s investigation, concerns were raised by some DCF employees regarding the alleged abuse and neglect of children by Long Lane staff and police officers. Consequently, the Panel requested and received DCF Hotline investigation reports of all officially-reported incidents of alleged abuse or neglect occurring since January 1997.

As with all child abuse and neglect referrals in Connecticut, when a report of abuse or neglect is made to DCF, it is handled by the Hotline investigative unit. When an allegation is made against a Long Lane staff person, DCF investigators from Hotline (which is physically located across the street from the facility) are assigned to look into the complaint and issue a report indicating whether or not the alleged abuse or neglect is substantiated. Hotline findings are forwarded to the Bureau Chiefs of both Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice, as well as to the Commissioner’s office. 

Any person paid to care for a child in any public or private facility is a mandated reporter, whose responsibility it is to report any suspicion of child abuse or neglect to DCF.
[67]  The law requires that an oral report must be made to DCF within twenty-four hours of the suspected abuse or neglect.
[68] A careful analysis of the aforementioned complaints reveals that Long Lane staff, including high level administrators, have at times violated the mandatory reporting statutes of this state. This is often noted in the Hotline reports as a "program concern." One department head defended his failure to orally report suspected abuse and neglect, as required by law, by stating that oral reports are not part of Long Lane procedure.

Although the Hotline investigations reviewed by the Panel appeared to be professional and complete, with problems at Long Lane carefully documented, the Panel is concerned, in view of the lack of oversight and outside regulation, that no entity, independent from DCF, investigates or even reviews allegations of abuse and neglect. It is clear from the Hotline reports that some institutional abuse and neglect is considered acceptable, and even expected, because Long Lane is a correctional facility. Conditions that are not tolerated at residential treatment facilities, such as excessive force and improper, and even dangerous, restraints are routine. Thus, those incidents in which abuse or neglect are substantiated against a DCF Long Lane employee warrant serious concern because they are indicative of the punitive treatment of children at Long Lane. 

Of the forty-nine official neglect or abuse reports made to the DCF Hotline in the past twenty-one months, and reviewed by the Panel, eleven resulted in the substantiation of abuse or neglect. In another twelve cases, although specific allegations could not be substantiated, the Hotline investigators noted one or more "program concerns." In other words, nearly one-half of all official investigations uncovered troubling facts about the way Long Lane children are treated by staff and agency police.

Recommendation
· DCF should establish an internal review unit designed specifically to investigate abuse or neglect allegations made against any DCF employee. Each investigation should include at least one non-DCF investigator. 

f.    Agency Police Officers (APOs)

Panel findings: 

Use of force incidents involving DCF Long Lane police officers are not subject to an administrative review process within the police division of the institution.


Long Lane police provide the security for the facility. Their assistance is requested whenever a child is out of control, is unresponsive to commands by staff or poses a danger to himself or others. Agency police officers are called to assist in virtually all circumstances involving physical altercations, and they perform many if not most of the physical restraints deemed necessary. Long Lane does not have correctional officers as other correctional facilities do.

The DCF police training manual section entitled "Interventions"
[69] specifies that police are trained to avoid force whenever possible, to use force only in self-defense, to protect the child from inflicting imminent harm to himself or others, to prevent serious property damage, to prevent escape, and to protect the safety and security of the institution. Force is specifically banned as a retaliatory or disciplinary measure. 
During the time period reviewed, Long Lane had between fifteen and nineteen police officers, plus three to five supervisors.
[70] On six occasions in the twenty-one months reviewed, abuse or neglect against a Long Lane child by an APO was substantiated. According to DCF reports, some examples of substantiated abuse include two separate incidents where police officers placed cloth items over the faces of children who spit during episodes of physical restraint. One child reported difficulty breathing, as well as being punched in the face, after a towel was placed over his head. Another was left alone for fifteen to twenty minutes, shackled to his bed, with his bathrobe wrapped around his face. The child was able to remove the bathrobe only after a struggle during which his breathing was impaired and he hit his head hard enough to sustain a gash, finally ending up on the floor, with his hands still handcuffed behind his back and his feet still shackled to the bed frame. 
According to the Hotline investigations, there appears to be a lack of cooperation with the investigations. In several instances, police officers involved in an incident refused to speak with the Hotline investigators. In other instances, APOs appear to have hindered investigations by making it difficult to schedule interviews, by refusing to complete relevant documentation, and by claiming to have forgotten the details of the incidents. Additionally, on one occasion, APOs insisted that a particular union representative be present during the interviews even when that representative was the subject of the investigation or a witness to the incident.

There is no internal system for the administrative review of alleged incidents of misconduct or use of force by police officers at Long Lane. Most police departments have at least one officer who is trained to review, and investigate if necessary, each incident of use of force by an officer, whether or not a complaint has been received. Such a system, which clearly defines the permissible use of force continuum as well as appropriate documentation and record keeping, provides feedback to each officer involved in such incidents, results in a permanent record for later reference, and identifies any problems with excessive use of force at an early stage. These reviews, which officers are required to participate in, result in the maintenance of high standards within the department as a whole and discourage routine use of force where it is not necessary.

According to a police union representative, however, the substantiation of abuse against agency police officers resulting from conflicts between their department and the Hotline arising from allegedly unfair child abuse investigative tactics and by the failure of DCF to observe the officers’ legal right to avoid self-incrimination. Thus, DCF’s practice of employing one department to investigate another has resulted in internal conflicts that have not, and perhaps cannot, be resolved. DCF lacks an internal investigatory unit designed solely for the purpose of investigating allegations of abuse and neglect against its employees, similar to police department internal affairs departments, nor is there any outside entity reviewing such allegations.

Recommendations
· Long Lane School police should have an internal review procedure of allegations of misconduct and use of force against children, along with policy that clearly establishes the continuum of permissible force and procedures for conducting the reviews.
· The child protection agency should never permit its own employees to dictate the parameters of or obstruct an investigation of alleged child abuse. Employees who refuse to cooperate or deliberately fail to adequately document incidents should be held accountable. 

g.   Use of Physical and Mechanical Restraints

Panel finding: 

Children at Long Lane School are routinely mechanically and physically restrained, often under circumstances which violate DCF policy.


The Panel is also concerned about the use of physical and mechanical restraints at Long Lane School, particularly in the wake of the deaths of Andrew M. and Robert T., both DCF wards, who died after being physically restrained in institutional settings. While it appears that regular restraint training is currently ongoing and appropriate, a review of the records and interviews with a number of staff reveal that children are sometimes physically restrained in cases where they have incurred the wrath of police officers or staff, but are not actually a danger to themselves or others. A common example of this is the police and staff response to a child banging on his or her door. Physical restraint in such a case would clearly be in violation of Long Lane policy and training; nonetheless, it is apparently a common occurrence.


Children are commonly foot-shackled and handcuffed to their beds as a consequence of their outbursts. Often, their mattresses are taken from the room as well.
[71] Although Long Lane policy states that such mechanical restraint is not permitted for longer than one hour unless approved by the Superintendent or a designated subordinate, properly justified and documented,
[72] in one instance, a child placed in mechanical restraints was forgotten by staff for two hours. She was only released when the oversight was noticed after the shift change by a staff member just coming on duty.
[73] Panel interviews with Long Lane staff also revealed that children are sometimes deliberately provoked by staff to act out and, in the opinion of some staff, the administration seems to have a hiring mentality which prefers staff who want to "take kids down" and not "talk them down."


Passive restraints are used in the Connecticut juvenile justice system as alternatives to the mechanical restraints used at Long Lane. According to Don DeVore, the Emily J. Consent Decree Court Monitor,
[74] the policy in Connecticut’s juvenile detention centers, which serves the same population as Long Lane, prohibits handcuffing children to stationary objects, time-limits the use of handcuffs, and completely prohibits the use of ankle shackles at the detention facilities.

Recommendation
· DCF should establish standards for the use of physical and mechanical restraint on the children at Long Lane School, using Judicial Branch standards for juvenile detention as a guide.
· Long Lane police officers and staff should receive intensive and ongoing training in the use of passive restraint.

 

h.   Record keeping
 

Panel finding: 

Record keeping at Long Lane School is seriously deficient, to the extent that critical information regarding the children and their care is not being recorded.

In several investigations reviewed by the Panel, DCF Hotline investigators were hampered by poor documentation of incidents of alleged abuse and neglect. Proper documentation is particularly important in those cases in which a significant amount of time has passed since the incident, resulting in faded memories of witnesses and participants. It appears that some employees may at times avoid completing the appropriate incident documentation which hinders the investigations. 
[75]

A random review of clinical records at Long Lane and a review of Tabatha’s records evidenced little, if any, documentation about individual therapeutic sessions with children or their families. In fact, an administrator stated that there has been little emphasis placed on documentation within the clinical department over the years because of excessively high caseloads and inadequate support staff.

 
Recommendation
· DCF must ensure, through the hiring of sufficient staff, the provision of adequate computer resources, and the implementation of high standards, that documentation in all departments is completed in a professional, thorough and timely manner.
i.    Lack of Communication
Panel finding: 

Each department at Long Lane School operates as a separate entity with little or no sharing of information pertaining to each child’s care.
The Panel interviewed Long Lane staff representing administration, residential, educational, medical, clinical, parole, case management and agency police. The Panel also conducted a random medical and clinical records review. Findings reveal an institution that has no team approach to the care of its children. Each department has extensive responsibilities yet there exists no comprehensive or collaborative treatment plan or process. For example, the medical department maintains a record, in the medical building, on every child. Residential staff maintain resident logs in the cottage/units where the children reside. The clinical department maintains therapeutic records in the clinical building. While these records may eventually reach a central file in the administration building, this often takes weeks or months. Case management also maintains their own files which only recently were entered into the DCF LINK computer system. Parole services maintains their own files as well.

This explains, to a great extent, why, as noted previously, Tabatha’s clinician was not aware of the severity of her first suicide attempt at Long Lane on September 12, or of the second attempt in front of the nursing staff, until well after she was assessed and removed from the suicide/safety watch. A resounding theme shared with the Panel by Long Lane employees was the absence of information sharing, lack of face-to-face contact between staff in different departments, and no team planning. Staff who had been employed at Long Lane for many years reported the lack of interdisciplinary communication and lack of written policy, procedures and protocols. The Panel heard repeated expressions of frustration by staff from all departments over the lack of communication and failed attempts to convince the administration and Central Office of the need for improved communications and interdisciplinary staff training. Of great concern to the Panel was the report by Youth Services Officers that they are not informed about the medications the children in their charge are taking. As a result, they Often cannot tell when a child has a mood swing, appears sullen or is uncooperative, whether this is just "bad behavior" or due to medication.

Staff members reported an atmosphere where there is no direction and insufficient supervision. They expressed concern over the lack of feedback concerning incidents of alleged abuse or neglect, and frustration at not being apprised when children are discharged.
[76] Panel members were repeatedly told of concerns for the safety and well-being of the children in their care.
Because the departments at Long Lane operate as separate entities with little communication, there is little sharing of information pertinent to a child’s treatment. Additionally, there is little to no sharing of information with DCF caseworkers assigned to a child. The DCF caseworker in Tabatha’s case was completely unaware of the incident that occurred on September 12, 1998, until well after Tabatha’s death. The clinician was also never advised, until informed by the Panel, that Tabatha had left a detailed suicide note.

 
Recommendations
· Multi-disciplinary teams should be developed which include representatives of clinical, medical, youth service officers, educational, recreational and case management, with the clinician as team leader. The teams would be responsible for developing and implementing a treatment plan for each child and monitoring progress. All members would be entitled to shared access to information and weekly communication would be required.

 
j.   The Children’s Perspective

Panel members had the opportunity to meet with several children in placement at Long Lane. This group of children was mixed with respect to gender and ethnic background, and represented several cottages. One child had spent some time in the secure diagnostic unit. The children were unanimous in their observations that there are too few staff and resources, leading to cutbacks in recreation (one child hadn’t been to the gym in over two weeks), ten- and twenty-year-old schoolbooks, reused notebooks, and broken computer keyboards. The children were very knowledgeable about the system, and some indicated they had rejected placement in a residential facility because they knew that their length of stay would be shorter at Long Lane School.

The children also spoke of their personal experiences with what they felt to be unfair treatment: staff being served better food than the children at meal times, not enough food, a group milieu in which an entire cottage is punished (including weekend passes revoked) for the transgressions of one or two, threatening and intimidating behavior from staff toward children, particularly when they complained or filed a grievance
[77]; and some staff who were just there to "get a paycheck." One child felt that life in the secure unit was actually better than life in the cottages, citing as examples more and better food and more attention from staff.

Of great concern to the Panel is the fact that some children relayed instances in which other children were on one-to-one or ten-minute safety watches and staff failed to make the required checks. Once child personally observed that another child who was on a one-to-one safety watch and in isolation was left alone by staff who were socializing in another area. Additionally, requests for medical attention often go unheeded and clinicians are not readily available when needed.
[78] One child experienced the direct threat of retaliation from staff about whom a complaint had been filed. The children also spoke of agency police officers whose sole purpose, as they perceive it, is to "take down" disruptive children, and who "slam" children who are uncooperative while be placed in handcuffs and shackles.

The children’s reports of life at Long Lane confirmed much of the information previously gathered by the Panel. Despite their complaints, however, some of the children spoken to felt that they were better off at Long Lane School than they would be in an adult correctional facility.

 

k.   Other Concerns

The Panel’s review of the Hotline investigation revealed additional concerns as well. For example, although children are punished for using profanity toward adults, name-calling and abusive language toward children by staff and police appears to be commonplace, another violation of DCF policy.
[79]  In one instance, staff members appear to have deliberately misled investigators in an effort to protect other staff. In another case, Long Lane medical staff refused to turn over to the Hotline investigator a child’s medical records that might have confirmed or refuted the alleged physical abuse. 

There are several documented instances of staff needlessly putting their hands on children in violation of Long Lane policy. One report indicates that a female child escalated out of control when she thought that a male police officer was going to take off her clothes and place her in suicide-prevention safety suit. Although the officer involved in that incident denied such intent and Long Lane administration proffered that such action is strictly prohibited, the officer did in fact tell the child she was going to be put in a safety suit and then asked for her belt. The child’s perception that a male officer intended to strip her is supported by information from other staff that this occasionally does happen.

In one instance, assault charges were filed against a child only after a staff member became aware, several hours later, that he was being accused by the child of physical abuse, raising the clear specter of retaliation. 

Although Long Lane practice dictates that children must remain in their rooms when APOs are present in a cottage to quell a disturbance (for obvious safety reasons), there are documented incidents in which APOs have ordered staff out of the trouble area for no discernible reason. This results in situations in which there are no independent witnesses when a child subsequently alleges abuse.

Of the thirteen employees against whom neglect or abuse allegations have been substantiated since January 1997, eleven remain employed by DCF at Long Lane, including one who was accused of sexual abuse and was found, at the least, to have engaged in inappropriate physical contact and off-grounds activity with the child.
[80]

Of the eleven substantiated incidents of abuse or neglect, involving thirteen employees, only two were referred for criminal investigation.
[81]
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�[46] A person over the age of sixteen can also be charged as a juvenile for an alleged delinquent act committed before his or her sixteenth birthday.


�[47] Additionally, cases involving fourteen- or fifteen-year olds charged with specified very serious crimes can be transferred out of the juvenile system to the adult court.


�[48] These are located in Bridgeport, Hartford and New Haven.  A child has the right to a hearing on whether continued placement in detention is warranted on the next business day after confinement.  Subsequently, detainees must be presented in court at least every fifteen days to determine whether detention is still necessary.


�[49] Sometimes, in non-serious or first-offense cases, the case may be dismissed or nolled, or the child may be placed under the supervision of a probation officer without a formal adjudication against the child.


�[50] A child cannot be committed merely for a status offense.  However, repeated status offenses may result in a charge of violation of court orders or of probation, which are delinquent acts and can result in commitment.  Thus, a child who has repeatedly run away from home or is habitually truant may end up with the same disposition as a child who has committed a serious felony.


�[51] DCF Policy Manual, Vol. III, Long Lane School, sec. 80-2, p. 1.


�[52] Department of Children and Families Policy Manual, Volume III, Long Lane School.  New policy is currently being drafted.  More detailed policies and procedures have been developed at Long Lane School itself.


�[53] Public Act 95-225.


�[54] Two programs, Touchstone for girls and Cliff House for boys, are currently in place, after some initial start-up difficulties.  DCF has also sought to develop beds for its juvenile justice clients in existing residential settings, with mixed success.


�[55] All statistics in this section, unless otherwise noted, were provided by Long Lane through the DCF Commissioner’s Office in response to requests from the Panel.


�[56] Since the passage of Conn. Gen. Stat. sec. 46b-127, which provides for the automatic transfer of fourteen- and fifteen-year olds to adult court when they are accused of certain, very serious crimes, many of the most violent and dangerous children are incarcerated at Manson Youth Facility in Cheshire, under the jurisdiction of the Department of Correction, and not at Long Lane School.


�[57] Loughran Report, p. 12.


�[58] Id.


�[59] In August 1995, prior to the implementation of the Juvenile Justice Reform Act, Long Lane employed 436 staff.


�[60] The administration has currently requested additional staff in all categories, including fifteen nurses, ten clinical staff, and fifty-one youth services officers.  The DIU is being covered at present by a temporary clinician.


�[61] Long Lane statistics indicate that current staffing ratios for some critical positions are as follows:  psychiatric social workers, 1:47; psychologists, 1:49; psychiatrist, 1:236; nurses 1:71.5; case managers and parole officers, 1:27; YSOs (open setting), 1:14.6; and YSOs (secure unit), 1:5.2.


�[62] Long Lane School, Orientation Manual, Guided Group Interaction, p. 6.


�[63] Loughran Report, March 25, 2998, p. 21.


�[64] Currently, Long Lane relies on volunteer clergy to provide religious services to the children who wish to participate.


�[65] The Panel was informed by the fire marshall’s office that the cottages which require sprinklers may not be remediable because of the asbestos throughout the buildings.


�[66] The Panel was surprised to learn from some Long Lane staff that many children expressed a preference for assignment to the high security section of Long Lane because it is air conditioned in summer, warm in the winter, they receive more attention and they get more food


�[67] Conn. Gen. Stat. sec. 17a-101a.


�[68] Conn. Gen. Stat. sec. 17a-101b.


�[69] This training is apparently derived from DCF draft policy section 82-3-2, pp. 1-4, dated 6/20/96.


�[70] The Long Lane police force is commanded by a Lieutenant, who is the spouse of the Long Lane Superintendent.  Both the Lieutenant and the Superintendent report to the Juvenile Justice Bureau Chief in DCF Central Office.


�[71] One Long Lane staff person explained to the Hotline investigator that this is standard procedure, and can be done for suicidal threads, past history of destruction of property or to “avoid comfort” when a resident evades responsibility.


�[72] DCF police training manual, draft DCF policy section 82-3-3, pp. 1-2, dated 6/20/96.


�[73] In an instance not documented by Hotline, one of the Panel’s own investigators, in the company of the Long Lane Superintendent, personally observed a boy who had been handcuffed and shackled for two hours.  According to the Superintendent, who actually spoke to the boy at the time, he was seeing blood coming through the walls.  The clinical staff had not yet responded to this psychiatric emergency.


�[74] Emily J. v. Ment, 1995, was a federal lawsuit filed on behalf of children detained in detention centers operated by the Connecticut Judicial Branch.


�[75] The Agency Police Officer Report Writing Training manual, on page 1, stresses the importance of thorough documentation of incidents, including in cases of physical restraint, specifically warning that such information will be essential in an abuse investigation months or weeks later.


�[76] The Panel learned that in the last few weeks a protocol has been implemented whereby the clinical division must “sign-off” before a child can be discharged.


�[77] Children reported such statements made as “what goes around comes around,” and “it’s payback time.”


�[78] Children reported that sometimes the only way to see a clinician is to threaten suicide or ”flip out.”


�[79] DCF Policy Manual, Employee Conduct: Staff/Child/Family Relationships, section 31-603.2, p. 3, states that the use of “language or other forms of communication to degrade or threaten a child” is prohibited.


�[80] DCF Policy Manual, Employee Conduct: Staff/Child/Family Relationships, section 31-5-3.2, p.1 states that “the cultivation or maintenance of social relationships with children or their families outside the boundaries of a professional treatment context” is prohibited.


�[81] One was the incident in which agency police officers left the resident alone shackled to the bed with a bathrobe wrapped around his head.  The state police declined to accept that case for investigation.  The other involved sexual abuse allegations against an employee.  The status of that criminal investigation is unclear to the Panel at this time.
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